RECEIVED

Jan 28 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Jasper County

Honorable Robert J. Bonds, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JHARAUN WASHINGTON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000468

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GARY H JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the state bears the burden of producing competent evidence on each of the elements of mutual combat when electing to use mutual combat as the theory supporting a murder charge in its indictment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted under the doctrine of mutual combat for causing the death of Donovan Hays and for possession of a weapon during a violent crime by a Jasper County grand jury on February 24, 2022. R. 516-517. Appellant was tried before the Honorable Robert J. Bonds and a jury from March 6 – 9, 2023. R. 1. During trial, Patrick Hall and Carolyn Carmody represented appellant, and Trasi Campbell appeared on behalf of the state. R. 2. Following a guilty verdict, Judge Bonds sentenced appellant to thirty-four years for murder and five years on the possession of a weapon charge, to run consecutively. R. 518-519.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Shots were exchanged between individuals in a vehicle and persons gathered around the back porch of an apartment complex in Jasper County. The shooting was captured on surveillance video.¹ Donovan Hays was driving a vehicle with three other occupants, which stopped on the street close to the back porch area of an apartment behind some concealing hedges, and allowed Xavier Rivers to exit the rear of the vehicle and obtain an assault rifle from the trunk of the car just before the shooting.² State's Exhibit 15. In response to seeing the Hays vehicle, an individual the state claimed to be Appellant armed himself with a handgun from a white Cadillac parked at the apartment complex. State's Exhibit 15. As Rivers re-entered the Hays vehicle with the assault rifle, Hays began to drive down the street and shots were fired between appellant's group and the Hays vehicle. State's Exhibit 15. Hays was struck in the head and killed by the gunfire. R. 395, ll. 5 – 14.

The state elected to indict both Rivers and appellant under the theory that the two engaged in mutual combat leading to the death of Hays. R. 516-517. At the close of the state's case in chief, counsel for both Rivers and appellant moved for a directed verdict based upon the failure of the state to introduce evidence on the required elements of mutual combat, including the lack of any evidence surrounding ill-will between the groups or a pre-existing dispute. R. 404 - 422.

In response to the directed verdict motion, the state argued there was no need under the law of mutual combat to show a prior dispute or prior ill-will between the combatants, since the combat could result from the "impulse of the moment." R. 415, ll. 9 – 24. In response to the trial court's inquiry about the need for "animus or the bad blood" between the parties, the state argued that

¹ State's Exhibits 11 and 15 are on file with this Court. State's 15 represents a composite video showing the movement of the two shooters.

² Xavier Rivers was tried with appellant but was acquitted by the jury. R. 503, ll. 1 – 9.

mutual combat contained no such element. R. 417, ll. 3 – 5. The state produced no evidence about an ongoing dispute or source of ill-will between the Hays vehicle and the occupants on the porch of the apartment leading up to the shooting. The trial court denied the directed verdict motion.³ R. 428, ll. 15 – 18.

³ Appellant’s counsel also moved for a directed verdict on the failure of the evidence to establish Appellant as the shooter depicted in State’s Exhibit 15. R. 409, ll. 3 – 20. During closing argument, appellant’s counsel argued that Appellant was the person shooting at the Hayes vehicle but argued Appellant was guilty of voluntary manslaughter and not murder resulting from mutual combat. R. 468, ll. 9 – 20.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appellate review, the denial of a directed verdict motion in a criminal case is reviewed under the any evidence standard of review. State v. Cain, 419 S.C. 24, 33, 795 S.E.2d 846, 851 (2017). “If there is any direct evidence or *any substantial circumstantial evidence* reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” State v. Harris, 413 S.C. 454, 457, 776 S.E.2d 365, 366 (2015) (emphasis added). “The lower court should not refuse to grant the motion where the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty.” State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000).

ARGUMENT

The state bears the burden of producing competent evidence on each of the elements of mutual combat when electing to use mutual combat as the theory supporting a murder charge in its indictment.

A. The offensive use of mutual combat as a basis for a murder charge as opposed to a jury charge to negate an element of self-defense.

Here, the state elected to charge both Rivers and appellant for murder under the theory that they were engaged in mutual combat leading to the death of Hays. R. 516-517. While South Carolina has recognized the use of mutual combat as the basis for a jury charge to negate an assertion of self-defense, it has also recently extended the doctrine to encompass criminal liability based upon its use as a basis for criminal liability:

Today, we extend our jurisprudence and hold that each participant who willingly engages in mutual combat may be held accountable for the death or injury of an innocent bystander resulting from that confrontation. As each combatant aids and encourages the others to fire and continue firing the hail of bullets that results in a victim's death or injury, each may be found guilty under the "hand of one is the hand of all" theory of accomplice liability. Accordingly, we affirm the court of appeals' decision upholding Young Jr.'s convictions and sentences.

State v. Young, 429 S.C. 155, 166, 838 S.E.2d 516, 522 (2020).

In Young, the defendants were charged with murder under the theory that they engaged in mutual combat. "Of course, mutual combat is not a stand-alone crime in South Carolina. Rather, it is a theory of criminal liability that underlies a recognized crime such as murder or manslaughter." Young, 429 S.C. at fn. 1, 838 S.E.2d at fn. 1.

In this case, the state adopted the offensive use of mutual combat in indicting Appellant and Rivers. Appellant's indictment reads:

That in Jasper County, South Carolina, on or about April 22, 2020, the Defendant, JHARAUN MONTYCE WASHINGTON did willfully, unlawfully and with malice aforethought engage in mutual combat with XAVTER KENDRELL RIVERS and did thereby cause the victim DONOVAN HAY to be shot and killed in the area of the Walsh Drive Apartments, Hardeeville, South Carolina and that DONOVAN HAY did die in Jasper County as a proximate result thereof on April 22, 2020, all in violation of Section 16-3-10, et al. of the Codes of Law of South Carolina (1976), as amended.

R. 516-517. The language from Appellant’s indictment closely tracks the indictment issued in Young.⁴

B. The state was required to introduce evidence supporting the elements of mutual combat.

In adopting the Young language as the basis for the indictment in the present case, the state assumed the burden of establishing the elements of mutual combat. In South Carolina, “[i]t is a rule of universal observance in administering the criminal law that a defendant must be convicted, if convicted at all, of the particular offense charged in the bill of indictment.” State v. Gunn, 313 S.C. 124, 136, 437 S.E.2d 75, 82 (1993). “A material variance between charge and proof entitles the defendant to a directed verdict; such a variance is not material if it ‘is not an element of the offense.’” Gunn, 313 S.C. at 136, 437 S.E.2d at 82 (*quoting State v. Hiott*, 276 S.C. 72, 276 S.E.2d 163 (1981)).

“[W]hile a conviction may be sustained under an indictment which is defective because it omits essential elements of the offense, such is not true when the indictment facially charges a complete offense and the State presents evidence which convicts *under a different theory* than that alleged.” Bailey v. State, 392 S.C. 422, 433, 709 S.E.2d 671, 677 (2011) (emphasis added)

⁴ The indictment at issue in Young added additional language regarding murder, including the malice aforethought requirement. The indictment in Young can be viewed in Appendix page 205 contained in the South Carolina Appellate Case Management System for State v. Young, Appellate Case No. 2018-001861 (2020). <https://ctrack.sccourts.org/public/caseView.do?csIID=68570>.

(quoting Thomason v. State, 892 S.W.2d 8, 11 (Tex.Crim.App.1994)). In Bailey, our Supreme Court held that an indictment charging “physical injuries resulting in Victim's death” required the state to produce evidence of such “physical injuries” rather than relying on “neglect” to support a conviction. Bailey, 392 S.C. at 435–36, 709 S.E.2d at 678. In State v. Smith, 406 S.C. 215, 219–20, 750 S.E.2d 612, 614 (2013), our Supreme Court ruled that an indictment under S.C. Code § 16-35-85(A)(1) (abuse or neglect causing death of a child) did not provide notice of a section (A)(2) charge (aiding and abetting abuse or neglect resulting in death of a child) requiring reversal of Smith’s conviction.

Here, the indictment’s theory was that mutual combat between Rivers and appellant resulted in the death of Hayes, making both appellant and Rivers criminally liable for murder. Much like the indictment in Young, the underlining theory of guilt was based upon mutual combat, requiring the state to meet the burden of production and proof on each aspect of mutual combat.

C. The trial court’s ruling.

Following the close of state’s case, counsel for both appellant and Rivers moved for a directed verdict since the state had failed to present evidence on each element of mutual combat. Specifically, counsel for appellant argued a failure to produce any evidence of pre-existing animosity or ill-will or any evidence of an agreement to engage in mutual combat:

With respect to the mutual combat charge, I think with respect to proving all of the elements of mutual combat, if that existed, and, again, I’m not gonna go back through all of the case law that Ms. Carmody has cited. I know there was no evidence of the disagreement or a pre-existing ill-will between the appellant and the victim in that case.

R. 409, l. 21 – 410, l. 2.

In addition, counsel for appellant pointed out the failure of proof regarding the mutual knowledge each combatant was armed and ready to engage in combat:

Now, Mr. Hatfield's testimony was he said something out loud, but of course he also couldn't verify that anybody heard him say, "Oh, look, that's Zay [co-defendant Rivers] in the car," or words to that effect. There's no testimony here from anyone that indicated at least at that point that anybody was armed.

And fast-forward to getting around the curb where the car stops, and exits the vehicle and removes this assault vehicle and gets back in. It's -- up to that point, and, again, there's no proof, there's nothing that's indicated in the record that there's anything going on here, that there's any willingness to fight.

There's absolutely zero evidence of any prior difficulties between Mr. Washington and Mr. Rivers.

R. 410, ll. 11 – 25.

In response, the state confirmed its use of offensive mutual combat from the indictments:

And so at the outset mutual combat is first and foremost the basis for criminal responsibility and liability, and that would be indicted for a murder that is the killing that is committed during a mutual combat situation. And that is exactly how the State indicted both Mr. Rivers and Mr. Washington.

They were indicted exactly the same, as the indictments that were issued in the Robinson and State v. Aaron Young Jr. and Aaron Young, Sr. cases. And so that is where we're a little off track with the Young case. And so, again, I've provided the Court with many different cases that address where we are with this as a liability criminal responsibility indictment as mutual combat.

R. 411, l. 20 – 412, l. 9.

The state asserted the video itself was sufficient evidence supporting mutual combat, based upon the two parties arming themselves. R. 413, l. 13 – 414, l. 18. The state also echoed the

language from State v. Brown,⁵ that it was sufficient if the parties “willfully enter into the conflict upon the impulse of the moment, and that is exactly what you have in this case.” R. 415, ll. 21 – 24. In response to the trial court’s inquiry about the need for “animus or the bad blood” between the parties, the state argued that mutual combat contained no such element. R. 417, ll. 3 – 5. The state produced no evidence about an ongoing dispute or source of ill-will between the Hays vehicle and the occupants on the porch of the apartment leading up to the shooting.

The trial court ultimately ruled with the state. In its ruling, the trial court focused on the “impulse of the moment” concept eliminating the need for any evidence of prior dispute of ill-will:

As far as to an agreement, I don’t think there has to be a stated agreement, as in we sit down and say, hey, let’s agree to duke it out, you get your gun, I’ll get my gun, let’s go for it. I think the agreement can be upon the impulse of the moment, and I think that’s clear -- I think there’s evidence that that could be what happened here.

R. 427, ll. 6 – 13.

The trial court noted it was “as far as meeting the elements, giving the State in this case quite frankly every benefit of the doubt, which I’m charged to do at this point, I believe that there’s enough evidence for this case to move forward for the jury to consider.” R. 428, ll. 9 – 14.

D. The trial court’s error of law concerning evidence of prior difficulty between the combatants.

The trial court’s error centers on the state’s failure to meet its burden of production on an essential element of mutual combat: a pre-existing dispute or ill will. The basis for the

⁵ “That, to constitute mutual combat, it is not necessary that there should be a positive agreement between the participating parties to enter the combat; it is sufficient if they willfully enter into the conflict, *upon the impulse of the moment*.” State v. Brown, 108 S.C. 490, 95 S.E. 61, 63 (1918) (emphasis added).

requirement of a pre-existing dispute has been addressed by our Supreme Court in State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 589 S.E.2d 1 (2003). The Taylor court found that [a]lthough South Carolina has not explicitly required that the fight arise out of a pre-existing dispute, other states have made this prerequisite to mutual combat explicit. Texas and Colorado adhere to the rule that an ‘antecedent agreement to fight’ must exist for the court to charge mutual combat.” Taylor, 356 S.C. at 233, 589 S.E.2d at 4. The Supreme Court reasoned it was “logical that the evidence of agreement to fight be plain, like the evidence of mutual combat present in the *Porter*; *Graham*, and *Mathis* cases.” Taylor, 356 S.C. at 234, 589 S.E.2d at 4.

The Supreme Court in Taylor then reviewed the evidence presented at trial to determine if mutual combat was applicable:

There is no evidence, and the State does not contend, that there was any pre-existing ill-will or dispute between Kevin and the Petitioner, and there is no evidence that Kevin was willing to engage in an armed encounter with Petitioner. In their determination of mutual willingness to fight, the South Carolina cases discussed emphasize that each party knew the other was armed. Here, there is no indication that Kevin knew Petitioner was armed with a knife, and there was no pre-existing ill-will between the parties. Under these circumstances, there is insufficient evidence of mutual willingness to fight to submit the issue of mutual combat to the jury.

Taylor, 356 S.C. at 234, 589 S.E.2d at 5.

This requirement of prior ill-will was also addressed in State v. Bowers, 436 S.C. 640, 875 S.E.2d 608 (2022). Our Supreme Court in Bowers noted:

If Bowers and Michael Morgan *had a previous dispute, mutually agreed to fight at a later time, and otherwise satisfied the limitations on the doctrine of mutual combat set forth in Taylor*, and if the resumption of their conflict played a role in starting the shootout in which Bowers shot Green, then under the same theory that led us to apply the doctrine in *Graham* and *Young*, the doctrine would make Bowers responsible for the injury to Green.

Bowers, 436 S.C. at 649, 875 S.E.2d at 612-13 (emphasis added).

The required element of pre-existing ill-will is a common theme seen in South Carolina caselaw on mutual combat: State v. Porter, 269 S.C. 618, 239 S.E.2d 641 (1977) (finding the prior argument over livestock accompanied by threatening gunshots supported a finding of mutual combat); State v. Graham, 260 S.C. 449, 196 S.E.2d 495 (1973) (noting parties had quarreled prior to the day of the killing and had made threats against each other before the fatal encounter); State v. Mathis, 174 S.C. 344, 177 S.E. 318, 319 (1934) (“There was testimony that the appellant and the deceased were on the lookout for each other; that they were armed in anticipation of a combat; that each drew his pistol and each fired upon the other.”).

As was the case in Taylor, here there is a complete lack of evidence of any pre-existing ill-will between the parties involved supporting a mutual willingness to fight. The state did not contend otherwise, arguing instead that the “upon the impulse of the moment” language, referenced in State v. Brown, 108 S.C. 490, 95 S.E. 61, 63 (1918), eliminated pre-existing ill-will or ongoing dispute as a required element of mutual combat. R. 417, ll. 2 – 5.

However, this expansive view of mutual combat, which effectively eliminates any need to show prior hostility or disagreement between the parties involved, has already been reviewed and rejected by our Supreme Court in State v. Taylor: