**RECEIVED**

**Jan 28 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Jasper County  
The Honorable Robert J. Bonds, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JHARAUN WASHINGTON,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2023-000468

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 11973

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE  
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit  
P.O. Box 1880

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

## ARGUMENT

### **Judge Bonds did not err in denying the motion for a directed verdict.**

#### *Standard of Review*

On appellate review, the denial of a directed verdict motion in a criminal case is reviewed under the any evidence standard of review. State v. Cain, 419 S.C. 24, 33, 795 S.E.2d 846, 851 (2017). “If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” State v. Harris, 413 S.C. 454, 457, 776 S.E.2d 365, 366 (2015)(emphasis added). “When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, this [c]ourt views the *evidence and all reasonable inferences* in the light most favorable to the state.” Id. (emphasis added).

#### *What Occurred Below*

At the close of the State’s case, both defendants, including Washington, moved for a directed verdict on the basis the State had not proven mutual combat. (R. 409). Specifically, Washington argued that prior to Rivers getting out of the car and arming himself with an assault rifle, the State failed to produce any evidence of pre-existing animosity or ill-will between the parties, a willingness to fight, or that anyone was armed. (R. 410).

The State asserted the video itself was sufficient evidence supporting mutual combat, based upon the two parties arming themselves. (R. 413, l. 13-52, l. 18). The State also argued the language from State v. Brown, 108 S.C. 490, 95 S.E. 61, 63 (1918), “[t]hat, to constitute mutual combat, it is not necessary that there should be a positive agreement between the participating parties to enter the combat; it is sufficient if they willfully enter into the conflict, *upon the impulse of the moment*. Brown, 108 S.C. 490, 95 S.E. at 63 (emphasis added). (R. 415, ll. 21-24). The

State also argued extensively that it had met each and every element of mutual combat as set forth in State v. Young, 429 S.C. 155, 166, 838 S.E.2d 516, 522 (2020). (R. 412-19).

After hearing extensive argument on the matter, and considering the record and evidence submitted in the case in the light most favorable to the State, which he was required to do, Judge Bonds denied the motion for a directed verdict. (R. 428, ll. 9-14). Judge Bonds noted that while the case law spoke in terms of prior difficulties or a prior dispute between the parties those cases did not specify whether the prior difficulty or dispute was 6 minutes ago, 18 minutes ago, 32 minutes ago, or the previous day. (R. 426, ll. 8-11). Judge Bonds specifically held that based on the case law, for mutual combat to exist there did not have to be an express stated agreement to fight but that the agreement could be upon the impulse of the moment and there was evidence from which the jury could find that occurred here. (R. 427, ll. 6-13). Judge Bonds also found the mutual intent and willingness to fight could be proven by the acts and conduct of the parties, and the circumstances intending and leading up to the combat. (R. 425, ll. 11-17). Judge Bonds also found that there was sufficient evidence of each of the requirements of mutual combat and the resulting death of the victim from which the jury could find each defendant guilty under the doctrine of mutual combat. (R. 427-28).

#### ***Issue Raised on Appeal***

Washington now appeals arguing Judge Bonds erred in not granting a directed verdict because he alleges a required element of mutual combat was missing; there was no evidence of prior hostility, animosity, ill will, or a prior dispute or difficulty between the parties. (BOA, pp. 10-13).<sup>6</sup> As will be shown, Judge Bonds correctly denied the motion for a directed verdict.

---

<sup>6</sup> Washington also mentions in a footnote in his brief that at the close of the State's case Washington also moved for a directed verdict alleging there was no evidence proving his identity as a shooter in the mutual combat. This argument, if raised here has no merit. Washington was identified as

### *Law/Analysis*

Under South Carolina law, a person may commit the crime of murder by engaging in mutual combat where the death of an individual results.

Today, we extend our jurisprudence and hold that each participant who willingly engages in mutual combat may be held accountable for the death or injury of an innocent bystander resulting from that confrontation. As each combatant aids and encourages the others to fire and continue firing the hail of bullets that results in a victim's death or injury, each may be found guilty under the "hand of one is the hand of all" theory of accomplice liability. Accordingly, we affirm the court of appeals' decision upholding Young Jr.'s convictions and sentences.

State v. Young, 429 S.C. 155, 166, 838 S.E.2d 516, 522 (2020). The Young Court made clear that mutual combat *is not a crime*, but a theory of liability already recognized by the South Carolina Supreme Court, "the hand of one is the hand of all." Id., at 166, 838 S.E.2d at 522.

Today, we hold mutual combat can properly serve as the basis for a murder charge for the death of a non-combatant under the "hand of one is the hand of all" theory of accomplice liability. When two or more individuals engage in combat via a reckless shootout, they collectively trigger an escalating chain reaction that creates a high risk to any human life falling within the field of fire. In that type of gunfight, *all* individuals are willing to use lethal force and display a depraved indifference to human life. More importantly, an innocent bystander would not be shot but for the willingness of all combatants to turn an otherwise peaceful environment, often a residential or commercial setting, into a battlefield. In a real sense, each combatant aids and encourages all of the other combatants—whether friend or foe—to create the lethal crossfire. We therefore find the law sanctions holding Young Jr. responsible for the actions of Robinson in causing the victim's death. Both men were equally

---

the shooter of the 9mm pistol at trial through both direct and circumstantial evidence including testimony of eyewitnesses, text messages, and the surveillance video. (R. 209-31; 114-272; 145-51; 275-92; 293-307; 312-45; 346-70; State's Ex. 11-15). Washington admitted to his girlfriend in a text that day that he had gotten in a shootout earlier that day and everyone was mad at him. (R. 346-70). A co-defendant texted Washington after the crime that he told police Washington was one of the shooters, but Washington saved all of their lives. (R. 331-33). Defense counsel admitted in his closing argument that Washington was the shooter of the 9mm but argued he was guilty only of voluntary manslaughter because of the actions of Rivers. (R. 465-69).

culpable. As a result, we affirm Young Jr.'s murder conviction and sentence.

Young, 429 S.C. at 157–58, 838 S.E.2d at 517. In Young, the defendants were charged with murder after a running gun battle [mutual combat] between them on Hilton Head Island that resulted in the death of a small child. In Young, to further emphasize the point, the Court stated: “Of course, mutual combat is not a stand-alone crime in South Carolina. Rather, it is a theory of criminal liability that underlies a recognized crime such as murder or manslaughter.” Young, 429 S.C. at n. 1, 838 at n. 1.<sup>7</sup>

Since mutual combat is not a crime, but a theory of liability, it is not a required element of murder. Id. Murder is the unlawful killing of another with malice aforethought, express or implied. S.C. Code Ann. 16-3-10.

Washington argues that because the State alleged mutual combat in the indictment of each defendant for murder, the State was required to prove each requirement of mutual combat citing Bailey v. State, 392 S.C. 422, 709 S.E.2d 671 (2011). However, in Bailey, a PCR case, in an indictment, the State alleged homicide by child abuse *by specific injury* to the child and the trial judge charged *neglect* as a possible element of the offense as well. In fact, the Supreme Court pointed out that “the jury focused on the terms of the indictment and recognized **the alternative elements in the homicide by child abuse statute, i.e., an ‘act’ versus an ‘omission.’**” Bailey, 392 S.C. at 436, 709 S.E.2d at 678 (emphasis added). During deliberations, the jury informed the trial court it found no evidence Bailey intentionally injured the child as alleged in the indictment

---

<sup>7</sup> Although not relevant to this case, the doctrine of mutual combat is also instructed to the jury, where appropriate, where the defendant asserts self-defense, because one engaging in mutual combat, cannot be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. See State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 233-34, 589 S.E.2d 1, 4-5 (2003). Thus, in a case where the defendant asserts self-defense but there is evidence of mutual combat, the jury is instructed that mutual combat, if it exists, would negate self-defense. Id.

and asked if it could convict under neglect which the Court charged from the statute. Id. The South Carolina Supreme Court held counsel was ineffective because he failed to object to the trial judge creating a material variance in the indictment by instructing the jury on neglect as an element of the offense and enlarging the indictment. Id. Washington does not raise on appeal that Judge Bonds erred in instructing the jury on mutual combat and murder. (IBOA, pp. 2-14). Such an objection would not be valid in any event. Again, mutual combat is not an element of murder. S.C. Code Ann. Section 16-3-10. Mutual combat is accomplice liability. Young, supra. Even Bailey recognized that a variance in an indictment is not material if it is not an element of the offense. Bailey, 392 S.C. at 433, 709 S.E.2d at 677; State v. Gunn, 313 S.C. 124, 136, 437 S.E.2d 75, 82 (1993); State v. Hiot, 276 S.C. 72, 276 S.E.2d 163 (1981); State v. Dent, 442 S.C. 38, 897 S.E.2d 46 (Ct. App. 2023); State v. Green, 406 S.C. 589, 753 S.E.2d 259 (Ct. App. 2014).

Washington also argues State v. Smith, 406 S.C. 215, 219-20, 750 S.E.2d 612, 614 (2013), but in Smith our Supreme Court held that an indictment for homicide by child abuse under S.C. Code Ann. 16-35-85(A)(1)(abuse or neglect causing death of a child) did not provide notice of a section (A)(2) charge (aiding and abetting abuse or neglect resulting in death of a child), two completely different crimes. Further, Washington does not challenge his indictment on appeal either. (IBOA, pp. 2-14). The State did not allege two different crimes but one crime, murder.

Washington was indicted for *the crime of murder*. The prosecution is not required to plead its evidence in the indictment, rather an indictment is sufficient for the purposes of the court exercising jurisdiction if the elements of the crime are fully alleged, and if the date of the offense, the place of the offense (county where the case is being tried), and the name of the defendant are also alleged. State v. Jones, 333 S.C. 6, 507 S.E.2d 324 (1998); State v. McIntire, 221 S.C. 504, 71 S.E.2d 410 (1952). *See also* State v. Owens, 346 S.C. 637, 552 S.E.2d 745 (2001)(where murder

indictment did not specifically allege that defendant killed the victim with malice aforethought, it did state that defendant killed the victim in violation of S.C. Code Ann. Section 16-3-10, and that by specific reference to the statute in the body of the indictment provided appellant with notice of the elements of murder). It is a rule of universal observance in administering the criminal law that a defendant must be convicted, if convicted at all, of *the particular offense* charged in the bill of indictment. State v. Castineira, 341 S.C. 618, 535 S.E.2d 449 (Ct. App. 2000), *affirmed on writ of certiorari*, State v. Castineira, 351 S.C. 635, 572 S.E.2d 263 (2003); State v. Cody, 180 S.C. 417, 186 S.E.2d 165 (1936); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. Section 17-19-20 & 30 (sufficiency of indictments including murder). Washington was charged with murder. Further, if the indictment alleges the killing was done with malice aforethought, it is unnecessary that the indictment allege feloniously and willfully. Joseph v. State, 351 S.C. 551, 571 S.E.2d 280 (2002).

It is also well-settled law that a defendant may be convicted on a theory of accomplice liability pursuant to an indictment charging him as a principal first. State v. Batchelor, 377 S.C. 341, 661 S.E.2d 58 (2008); State v. Dickman, 341 S.C. 293, 534 S.E.2d 268 (2000); State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 355 S.E.2d 270 (1987). This is because under South Carolina law all are guilty whether a principal 1<sup>st</sup> or a principal 2<sup>nd</sup>; it makes no difference, the act of one is the act of all. Dickman, *supra*; State v. Hicks, 257 S.C. 279, 185 S.E.2d 746 (1971); State v. Langley, 335 S.C. 72, 515 S.E.2d 101 (1999); State v. Cox, 258 S.C. 114, 187 S.E.2d. 525 (1972); State v. Blackwell, 220 SC. 342, 67 S.E.2d 684 (1951); State v. Luster, 178 S.C. 199, 182 S.E.2d 427 (1935); State v. Hunter, 79 S.C. 73, 60 S.E.2d. 240 (1908); State v. Anthony, 1 McCord 285 (1821); State v. Fley, 2 Brev. 338 (1809).

Again, a variance in an indictment is not material where the matter alleged *is not an element of the offense*. State v. Gunn, 313 S.C. 124, 437 S.E.2d 75 (1993). The allegation of mutual combat

in the indictment was not an element of the offense, was unnecessary, was surplusage. *See State v. Adams*, 430 S.C. 420, 433, 845 S.E.2d 217, 223–24 (Ct. App. 2020) (“As long as the jury unanimously agreed the State had proven that the defendant killed the victim with malice aforethought, constitutional guarantees do not require unanimity as to what weapon the defendant used; six could believe it was the gun, the other six the knife. Because the means of the killing is not an essential element, unanimity *as to the means* is not essential. It is undeniable that “when a single crime can be committed in various ways, jurors need not agree upon the mode of commission.”) *quoting Schad v. Arizona*, 501 U.S. 624, 649 (1991) (Scalia, J., concurring), *abrogated on other grounds*, *Edwards v. Vanoy*, 593 US. 255, n. 4 (2021). This analytical model is serviceable when the defendant is charged with a single offense such as murder. *Id.* To the extent Washington argues he was entitled to a directed verdict because of a material variance in his indictment, he is wrong. *Gunn, supra*. The State proved all the elements of murder. And, regardless of the above discussion, as will be shown below, the State also proved all of the requirements of mutual combat.

South Carolina had long recognized that mutual combatants are liable for the death of one of the participants to the mutual combat. *See, e.g., State v. Brown*, 108 S.C. 490, 499, 95 S.E. 61, 63 (1918) (“[E]very one [sic] is presumed to know the consequences of his act, and if one voluntarily enters a mutual combat where deadly weapons are used, knowing that they are being used, and *death results to one of the participating parties*, every one [sic] engaged in such combat is equally guilty, regardless of whether he used a deadly weapon or not. And regardless of whether he was on one side or the other makes no difference, and where all are participating in the mutual combat, all are equally responsible for the natural consequences.” (emphasis added)). *Young*, 429 S.C. at 166, 838 S.E.2d at 522, extended mutual combat liability to an innocent bystander. *Id.*

There is no question that mutual combat requires the following:

To constitute mutual combat, there must be a mutual intent and willingness to fight, “manifested by the acts and conduct of the parties and the circumstances attending and leading up to the combat.” Graham, 260 S.C. at 450, 196 S.E.2d at 495<sup>8</sup>; *see also Taylor*, 356 S.C. at 235, 589 S.E.2d at 5 (“The mutual combat doctrine is triggered when both parties contribute to the resulting fight.”); Brown, 108 S.C. at 499, 95 S.E. at 63 (“[T]o constitute mutual combat, it is not necessary that there should be a positive agreement between the participating parties to enter the combat; it is sufficient if they [willfully] enter into the conflict, upon the impulse of the moment.”). The State is required to prove the rival combatants were armed for the mutual combat with deadly weapons and each combatant knew the others were armed. Taylor, 356 S.C. at 233–34, 589 S.E.2d at 4–5. Mutual combat may be the basis of either a murder or manslaughter conviction depending on the combatant's state of mind at the time of the killing, i.e., whether the combatant acted with malice aforethought. Id. at 232, 589 S.E.2d at 3–4 (quoting State v. Andrews, 73 S.C. 257, 260, 53 S.E. 423, 424 (1906)).

State v. Young, 429 S.C. 155, 160–61, 838 S.E.2d 516, 518–19 (2020). In addition, there must be an antecedent agreement to fight, which may be shown by evidence establishing a pre-existing dispute or ill will between the combatants. *See* State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 233-34, 589 S.E.2d 1, 4-5 (2003).

Rightly or wrongly, our case law has evolved to where our appellate courts interpreting State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 589 S.E.2d 1 (2003)<sup>9</sup> have found that prior hostilities, animus, ill

---

<sup>8</sup> State v. Graham, 260 S.C. 449, 196 S.E.2d 495 (1973).

<sup>9</sup> In State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 232–35, 589 S.E.2d 1, 4–5 (2003), the South Carolina Supreme Court actually held that the State must prove an antecedent agreement to fight, the parties were armed with deadly weapons, and the combat did not arise merely out of a fist fight. The Court noted the evidence of prior hostilities, animus, or a dispute was evidence which creates an inference of the antecedent agreement to fight. Id. Taylor specifically recognized that in that case there was no evidence of a prior dispute or ill will or a willingness to engage in an *armed* encounter with the other party. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 234, 589 S.E.2d 4-5. In fact, one party did not know the other party was armed. In State v. Young, 429 S.C. 424, 432-33, 818 S.E.2d 486 (Ct. App. 2018), *affirmed*, Young, 429 S.C. 155, 838 S.E.2d 516, this Court did not define mutual combat as containing a requirement of proof of pre-existing hostilities, difficulties, a prior dispute, or animus between the combatants, but instead held that the requirement of an antecedent agreement to fight

will, or a prior difficulty or dispute between the parties is required to prove the theory of accomplice liability using mutual combat. State v. Bowers, 436 S.C. 640, 648, 875 S.E.2d 608 (2020);<sup>10</sup> State v. Young, 429 S.C. 155, 838 S.E.2d 516, n. 7 (2020); State v. Bowers, 428 S.C. 21, 32–34, 832 S.E.2d 623, 629–30 (Ct. App. 2019), aff'd, 436 S.C. 640, 875 S.E.2d 608 (2022); Campbell v. State, 441 S.C. 361, 366–67, 893 S.E.2d 492, 494–95 (Ct. App. 2023).

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